IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) S.CT. NO. 20-0950
)
 CEASAR DAVISON,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DES MOINES COUNTY
HONORABLE JOHN M. WRIGHT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARTHA LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

MARIA RUHTENBERG
Assistant Appellate Defender
MRuhtenberg@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY'S FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The district court violated the defendant's Due Process rights by imposing \$150,000 restitution award but failing to require a jury finding that the defendant caused the death of another person.

Authorities

State v. Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d 541, 545 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Hamrick, 595 N.W.2d 492, 493 (Iowa 1999)

Iowa Code § 910.3B(1) (2015)

1. The “restitution” required by section 910.3B(1) only applies when the defendant has been convicted of a felony that by definition “caused the death” of another person.

Iowa Code § 910.3B(1) (2015)

State v. Piper, 663 N.W.2d 894, 900 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Kolbet, 638 N.W.2d 653, 663 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d 541, 545 (Iowa 2000)

Iowa Code § 707.6A(2)(a) (2017)

State v. Klawonn, 609 N.W.2d 515, 517 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Corwin, 616 N.W.2d 600, 601 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Rohm, 609 N.W.2d 504, 509 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Artzer, 609 N.W.2d 526, 532 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Konchalski, 641 N.W.2d 202 (Iowa 2001)

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 2362-2363 (2000)

Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531 (2004)

S. Union Co. v. United States, 132 S.Ct. 2344, 2348-2349 (2012)

2. Davison was not convicted of a crime in which his acts caused the death of another.

Iowa Code § 708.2(4) (2017)

Iowa Code § 706.1 (2017)

Iowa Code § 706.3(1) (2017)

II. The court abused its discretion by not considering the possibility of probation, mistakenly believing that the defendant was not eligible for probation.

Authorities

Iowa R. App. P. 6.4

State v. Thomas, 547 N.W.2d 223, 225 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Ayers, 590 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Lee, 561 N.W.2d 353, 354 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Finchum, 364 N.W.2d 222, 225-226 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Washington, 356 N.W.2d 192, 197 (Iowa 1984)

Iowa Code § 811.1(2) (2017)

Iowa Code § 702.11 (2017)

State v. Moore, 936 N.W.2d 436, 439 (Iowa 2019)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issue raised involves a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Specifically, this case asks the court to determine whether the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution requires the jury to make a finding that the defendant caused the death of another person in order to determine the applicability of the \$150,000 restitution of Iowa Code section 910.3B(1) (2017).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal from a conviction and sentence following a jury trial for Assault Causing Serious Injury and Conspiracy to Commit Murder in Des Moines County case number FECR008098.

Course of Proceedings and Facts¹: On April 2, 2019, the State charged the defendant, Caesar Davison, with Murder in the First Degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 707.1 and 707.2(1) (2017), a class A felony in Count I, and Conspiracy to Commit a Forcible Felony: Murder, in violation of Iowa Code sections 706.1 and 706.3 (2017), a class C felony. The State alleged that the defendant, along with others, conspired together and shot and killed Demarcus Chew on September 10, 2017. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-11). The case was tried to a jury beginning February 11, 2020. (Trial tr. Vol. I, p. 1, L. 1-25).

The evidence at trial was that two different groups of people went to a club in Gulfport, Illinois, sometime in the late hours of September 9, 2017, or the early morning hours of September 10, 2017. (Trial tr. Vol III, p. 38, L. 7- p. 40, L. 20; Vol IV, p. 180, L. 6- 12). Apparently the victim had a

¹ Because the issue raised in this appeal concern the sentencing order, the facts will be summarized and not set out in detail.

“bounty” on his head stemming from a shooting involving Chew’s brother and a man named A.J. Smith. (Trial tr. Vol III, p. 33 L. 20 – p. 23, L. 14). Chew was at the club in Gulfport that night. (Trial tr. Vol. III, p. 40, L. 10-20). In the early morning hours of September 10th Chew left the club with friends in a vehicle. Chew was in the backseat of the car. (Trial tr. Vol. III, p. 90, L. 10 – p. 91, L. 17). When they arrived at their destination, Chew was shot and killed. (Trial tr. Vol. III, p. 95, L. 2 – p. 97, L. 10; Vol. IV, p. 7 – p. 142, L. 7).

After a long investigation, the State charged the defendant and others who had been at the same club that night. Two of those people, Antoine Spann and Andre Harris, made plea agreements and testified against the defendant at his trial. According to them, their group, which consisted of Andre Harris, Emmanuel Spann, Antoine Spann, and the defendant, left the club and followed the vehicle that Chew was in. Once they arrived at where Chew had stopped, the defendant and Emmanuel Spann exited the vehicle and came back a few seconds later. (Trial tr. Vol. IV, p. 194, L. 23 – p.

200, L. 25; Vol. V, p. 107, L. 5 – p. 112, L. 23). According to Antoine Spann, he heard shots fired during that time they were outside of the car. (Trial tr. Vol. V, p. 7-14). According to Harris, someone asked if they got him, and the defendant said “yeah, it was up close.” (Trial tr. Vol. IV, p. 201, L. 1-16). Police were called and Chew was pronounced dead at the hospital. (Trial tr. Vol. IV, p. 142, 2-7).

Following the jury trial, the defendant was found guilty under Count I of the lesser included offense of Assault Causing Bodily Injury in violation of Iowa Code section 708.2(4) (2017), a class D felony. He was also found guilty as charged in County II, Conspiracy to Commit a Forcible Felony: Murder, in violation of Iowa Code sections 706.1, 706.3(1) (2017), a class C felony. (Verdict Forms, Judgment Entry) (App. pp. 14-15, 22-24). On July 13, 2020, the defendant was sentenced to prison for a term not to exceed 15 years. (Judgment Entry) (App. pp. 22-24). On July 16, 2020, the defendant filed a notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 25-26).

ARGUMENT

I. The district court violated the defendant's due process rights by imposing \$150,000 restitution award but failing to require a jury finding that the defendant caused the death of another person.

A. Preservation of Error and Standard of Review: Error

was preserved because counsel raised and argued the issue to the district court, which denied it. (Defendant's Objection to Proposed Restitution Award and Brief; Sentencing Hrg. p. 6, L. 8 – p. 13, L. 20; p. 19, L. 8-16) (App. pp. 16-21).

Constitutional issues are reviewed de novo. State v. Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d 541, 545 (Iowa 2000) (citing State v. Hamrick, 595 N.W.2d 492, 493 (Iowa 1999)).

B. Discussion: Iowa Code section 910.3B(1) provides

In all criminal cases in which the offender is convicted of a felony in which the act or acts committed by the offender caused the death of another person, in addition to the amount determined to be payable and ordered to be paid to a victim for pecuniary damages . . . the court shall also order the offender to pay at least one hundred fifty thousand dollars in restitution to the victim's estate if the victim died testate. If the victim died intestate the court shall order the offender to pay the restitution to the victim's heirs at law as determined pursuant to section 633.210.

Iowa Code section 910.3B(1) (2015).

Although the statute identifies the \$150,000 payment as “restitution,” the Iowa Supreme Court has determined that the payment assessed pursuant to 910.3B(1) is a fine for constitutional purposes. State v. Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d 541, 549 (Iowa 2000). To reach this conclusion, the court relied on the punitive aspects of the statute and noted that it was intended, at least in part, to punish the defendant and serve purposes normally associated with punishment—retribution and deterrence. Id.

1. The “restitution” required by section 910.3B(1) only applies when the defendant has been convicted of a felony that by definition “caused the death” of another person. The language of Iowa Code section 910.3B(1) limits its application to cases in which a defendant has been convicted or pled guilty to a felony containing an element of causing the death of another person: “In all criminal cases in which the offender is convicted of a felony in which the act or acts committed by the offender caused the death of another

person.” Iowa Code section 910.3B(1). The language limits to application to certain types of felonies—felonies in which the defendant’s acts caused the death of another person.

The Iowa Supreme Court has not decided whether section 910.3B(1) applies when the defendant has not been convicted of a crime which includes an element that he caused the death of another. See, e.g., State v. Piper, 663 N.W.2d 894, 900 (Iowa 2003) (defendant convicted of first degree murder argued section 910.3B violates the Ex Post Facto Clause); State v. Kolbet, 638 N.W.2d 653, 663 (Iowa 2001) (defendant convicted of homicide by vehicle challenged restitution on double jeopardy and excessive fines grounds); State v. Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d 541, 545 (Iowa 2000) (considering whether \$150,000 restitution violated the constitutional prohibitions against excessive fines, constitutional double jeopardy protections, or due process for someone who was convicted of unintentionally causing the death of another by driving in reckless manner in violation of Iowa Code section 707.6A(2)(a)); State v. Klawonn, 609 N.W.2d

515, 517 (Iowa 2000) (defendant convicted of involuntary manslaughter challenged restitution as violation of the Excessive Fines, Double Jeopardy, and Due Process Clauses of the state and federal constitutions and an abuse of discretion); State v. Corwin, 616 N.W.2d 600, 601 (Iowa 2000) (defendant convicted of two counts of homicide by vehicle challenged restitution as violation of prohibition on ex post facto laws); State v. Rohm, 609 N.W.2d 504, 509 (Iowa 2000) (defendant convicted of involuntary manslaughter challenged the victim restitution award on constitutional grounds); State v. Artzer, 609 N.W.2d 526, 532 (Iowa 2000) (defendant convicted of second degree murder claimed restitution award violated the Excessive Fine and Double Jeopardy Clauses of the state and federal constitutions and was an abuse of discretion); State v. Konchalski, 641 N.W.2d 202 (Iowa 2001) (defendant convicted of voluntary manslaughter raised procedural and substantive due process challenges to the section 910.3B restitution scheme). However, the court's decision in Izzolena indicates that the court expected that section 910.3B would only apply

in that situation.

In concluding that the restitution did not violate the excessive fine prohibitions, the court relied on the relatively limited applicability of the statute. “[T]he restitution award does not apply to all crimes resulting in the death of another.” Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d at 550. It only applies to felonies, and it “only applies to offenders who committed a crime which caused the death of another human.” Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d at 550. As well, the court noted that the restitution could not be imposed in a case involving an unintentional or negligent offender. Id. at 550.

When the court considered whether the imposition of the restitution violated constitutional due process guarantees, the court considered the risk of the restitution being imposed erroneously:

However, the risk of erroneous deprivation of this interest through the available procedures is virtually non-existent. In order for this award to be imposed upon an individual, guilt beyond a reasonable doubt must be shown at trial, or a plea of guilty must be accepted for the underlying felonious offense. Additionally, the commission of

the offense must have been the proximate cause of the victim's death. And finally, the defendant is afforded the opportunity for a hearing once the court issues the restitution order, at any time during the pendency of the order. *See Iowa Code § 910.7 (1997)*. Adding additional or substitute procedures to the process would not provide any additional safeguards to the defendant, as sufficient procedure with respect to the imposition of the award are currently in place.

Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d at 553.

This discussion indicates that the court contemplated the restitution award would only be imposed after a defendant had been convicted of or pled guilty to proximately causing the death of another. Such a finding could only be made if causing the death of another was an element of the crime for which the defendant was convicted.

It is well-established that the Sixth Amendment requires that any factual determination increasing a defendant's sentence must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the State. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 2362-2363 (2000); Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531 (2004). The United States Supreme Court

clarified that the Six Amendment principle applies when the sentence involved is a criminal fine. S. Union Co. v. United States, 132 S. Ct. 2344, 2348-2349 (2012).

The previous challenges to section 910.3B have not raised challenges based on a defendant's Sixth Amendment and article 1, section 9 right to a jury trial. Izzolena considered whether the post-deprivation hearing to address the payment of the fine satisfied the due process clauses of the Iowa and United States constitutions and concluded it did. Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d 553. However, as discussed above, part of the court's rationale for its conclusion was that the statute would only be imposed when the defendant was a convicted of a crime which was the proximate cause of the death of another person. Izzolena, 609 N.W.2d at 553. If the court concludes that the restitution may apply even when the defendant has not been convicted of causing the death of another, then the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 9 requires that the fact of causation must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

2. Davison was not convicted of a crime in which his acts caused the death of another.

During the sentencing hearing, the defendant argued to the court that it would be a violation of due process to impose the \$150,000 restitution on the defendant because it is considered a punitive and, therefore, there needed to be a finding by the jury that the defendant caused the death of the victim. (Sentencing Hrg. tr. p. 7, L. 12 – p. 8, L. 23). The State disagreed that the restitution under 910.3B was a fine and was purely restitution. (Sentencing Hrg. p. 10, L. 8-16). The trial court recognized that the defendant made “a very good argument” and cited cases “relevant to the issue,” but then simply stated it would side with the State and impose the \$150,000 restitution. (Sentencing Hrg. tr. p. 19, L. 8-16).

In this case, the jury acquitted the defendant of every charge involving homicide. The defendant was charged with Murder in the First Degree and the court instructed the jury on the lesser included offenses, including Murder in the Second Degree and Voluntary Manslaughter. The jury did not

convict him of any of these offenses. Under that count he was convicted of the lesser offense of Assault Causing Serious Injury. (Verdict Forms) (App. pp. 14-15). That offense does not include a finding that the defendant caused the death of Demarcus Chew. Iowa Code § 708.2(4) (2017); (Jury Instruction No. 36) (App. p. 12).

The defendant was also convicted of Conspiracy to Commit a Forcible Felony: Murder. (Verdict Forms) (App. pp. 14-15). That crime does not include the element that the defendant caused the death of Demarcus Chew. Iowa Code §§ 706.1, 706.3(1) (2017); (Jury Instruction No. 41) (App. p. 13). The matter was not submitted to the jury as to whether the defendant caused the death or that he was the proximate cause of the death of Chew. Without such a finding by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, the imposition of the \$150,000 was a violation of the defendant's due process rights under Apprendi, and the order must be vacated.

II. The court abused its discretion by not considering the possibility of probation, mistakenly believing that the defendant was not eligible for probation.

A. Preservation of error and standard of review: A

sentence imposed by the district court is reviewed for errors at law. Iowa R. App. P. 6.4; State v. Thomas, 547 N.W.2d 223, 225 (Iowa 1996). A sentence imposed in accordance with applicable statutes will be overturned only for an abuse of discretion. When a sentencing court has discretion, it must exercise that discretion. State v. Ayers, 590 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1999). Failure to exercise that discretion calls for a vacation of the sentence and remand for re-sentencing. State v. Lee, 561 N.W.2d 353, 354 (Iowa 1997).

Review of sentencing is properly before this court upon direct appeal despite the absence of objection in the trial court. See State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994). This court considers the district court's failure to exercise its discretion a defect in the sentencing procedure to which the error preservation rules do not appeal. State v. Ayers, 590 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1999).

B. Discussion: “When a sentencing court has discretion, it must exercise that discretion. State v. Finchum, 364 N.W.2d 222, 225-226 (Iowa 1985).” State v. Ayers, 590 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1999). “Failure to exercise that discretion calls for a vacation of the sentence and a remand for resentencing.” Id. (citing State v. Lee, 561 N.W.2d 353, 34 (Iowa 1997) (holding that “[w]here a court fails to exercise the discretion granted to it by law because it erroneously believes it has no discretion, a remand for resentencing is required”); *see also* State v. Washington, 356 N.W.2d 192, 197 (Iowa 1984) (finding error where trial court erroneously believed it did not have the discretion to consider a suspended sentence and probation).

The court sentenced the defendant to prison terms not to exceed five years for Count I and ten years on Count II run consecutively to each other. (Judgment Entry) (App. pp. 22-24). The sentencing court seemed to be under the belief that the defendant had been found guilty of a forcible felony. The court determined the defendant was not eligible for bond on appeal based on Iowa Code section 811.1(2) (2017), which

denies bail on appeal for those convicted of a forcible felony. However, the defendant was not convicted of a forcible felony. Iowa Code § 702.11 (2017). Although defense counsel alluded to the fact that the defendant was convicted of a forcible felony, the court should know what discretion it does or does not have. (Sentencing Hrg. tr. p. 6, L. 8-11); See State v. Moore, 936 N.W.2d 436, 439 (Iowa 2019) (finding the court abused its discretion by agreeing with counsel that he did not “have much wiggle room” in imposing the sentence). Because the court here did not believe it could consider a suspended sentence and probation, the court abused its discretion and remand is appropriate.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the Appellant requests the Court reverse the imposition of the \$150,000 of punitive restitution and vacate the sentence and remand for resentencing.

NONORAL SUBMISSION

Counsel requests not to be heard in oral argument.

ATTORNEY'S COST CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, hereby certifies that the true cost of producing the necessary copies of the foregoing Brief and Argument was \$2.41, and that amount has been paid in full by the Office of the Appellate Defender.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPEFACE REQUIREMENTS AND TYPE-VOLUME LIMITATION

This brief complies with the typeface requirements and type-volume limitation of Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.903(1)(d) and 6.903(1)(g)(1) because:

[X] this brief has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface Bookman Old Style, font 14 point and contains 2,870 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1).