IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-0950

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

CEASAR DAVISON,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DES MOINES COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JOHN M. WRIGT, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

MARTHA E. TROUT
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
martha.trout@ag.iowa.gov

LISA SCHAEFER
Des Moines County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **The district court correctly denied the defendant's due process challenge to the imposition of restitution under Iowa Code section 910.3B.**

Preservation of Error

The State does not contest error preservation as Davison raised the challenge during the sentencing hearing. Sent. Tr. p. 7, line 10 through p. 19, line 16.

Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews restitution orders for correction of errors at law. *State v. Hagen*, 840 N.W.2d 140, 144 (Iowa 2013) (citing *State v. Jenkins*, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010)). In reviewing a restitution order, “we determine whether the court's findings lack substantial evidentiary support, or whether the court has not properly applied the law.” *State v. Bonstetter*, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001). To the extent that the defendant challenges the denial of a constitutional right, review is de novo. *State v. Izzolena*, 609 N.W.2d 541, 545 (Iowa 2000); *State v. Klawonn*, 609 N.W.2d 515, 518 (Iowa 2000).

Merits

This appeal involves yet another challenge to Iowa Code section 910.3B. The issue in this case is whether the district court denied Davison due process when it ordered him to pay the \$150,000 following his convictions for assault causing serious injury or conspiracy to commit a forcible felony. According to Davison, neither of these offenses include a finding that he caused the death of Demarcus Chew. The district court acted in accordance with the law and must be affirmed.

Section 910.3B requires causation

Iowa Code section 910.3B(1) provides in pertinent part:

In all criminal cases in which the offender is convicted of a felony in which the act or acts committed by the offender caused the death of another person . . . the court shall also order the offender to pay at least one hundred fifty thousand dollars in restitution to the victim. . .

Iowa Code § 910.3B. For section 910.3B to be imposed, “the commission of the offense must have been the proximate cause of the victim’s death.” *Izzolena*, 609 N.W.2d at 553; *see also State v. Albertson*, 2004 WL 239828, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 11, 2004) (citing *Izzolena*, 609 N.W.2d at 553).

“Generally, causation exists in criminal law, often without much fanfare, as a doctrine justifying the imposition of criminal responsibility by requiring a ‘sufficient causal relationship between the defendant’s conduct and the proscribed harm.’” *State v. Tribble*, 790 N.W.2d 121, 126 (Iowa 2010)) (quoting *State v. Marti*, 290 N.W.2d 570, 584 (Iowa 1980)). This court has observed that:

[c]ausation has two components; “(1) the defendant’s conduct in fact caused the plaintiff’s damages (generally a factual inquiry) and (2) the policy of the law must require the defendant to be legally responsible for the injury (generally a legal question).”

Berte v. Bode, 692 N.W.2d 368, 372 (Iowa 2005) (quoting *Gerst v. Marshall*, 549 N.W.2d 810, 815 (Iowa 1996)); *see also State v. Watts*, 587 N.W.2d 750, 751 (Iowa 1998) (“We have said that section 910.1(3) ‘connote[s] a requirement that the victim prove a prima facie case of liability premised on some civil theory such as fault or intentional tort. Proximate cause, of course, would be a necessary element of such a prima facie case.’” (quoting *State v. Starkey*, 437 N.W.2d 573, 574 (Iowa 1989))). Factual causation is determined through a “but for” test:

[T]he defendant’s conduct is a cause in fact of the plaintiff’s harm if, but-for the defendant’s conduct, that harm would not have occurred. The but-for test also implies a negative. If the plaintiff would have suffered the same harm had the defendant

not acted negligently, the defendant's conduct is not a cause in fact of the harm.

Berte, 692 N.W.2d at 372 (quoting Dan B. Dobbs, *The Law of Torts* § 168, at 409 (2000)). Under a proximate cause theory, the defendant's conduct need not be the sole cause of the victim's injuries but he must be a cause. The existence of other causes does not sever the causal relationship.

Recently, in *State v. Roache*, 920 N.W.2d 93, 96, 102 (Iowa 2018), this court determined the risk standard for scope of liability in the Restatement (Third) of Torts applies in criminal restitution cases. Nearly a decade before *Roache* was decided, the court decided *Thompson v. Kaczinski*, 774 N.W.2d 829, 837–39 (Iowa 2009). In *Kaczinski*, this court adopted the Restatement (Third) of Torts risk standard for civil tort actions. 774 N.W.2d at 837–39. This standard “is intended to prevent the unjustified imposition of liability by ‘confining liability's scope to the reasons for holding the actor liable in the first place.’” *Id.* at 838 (quoting Restatement (Third) of Torts § 29 cmt. d, at 496). “The scope-of-liability issue is fact-intensive as it requires consideration of the risks that made the actor's conduct tortious and a determination of whether the harm at issue is a result of any of those risks.” *Id.* To determine whether:

the plaintiff's harm is beyond the scope of liability as a matter of law, courts must initially consider all of the range of harms risked by the defendant's conduct that the jury *could* find as the basis for determining [the defendant's] conduct tortious. Then, the court can compare the plaintiff's harm with the range of harms risked by the defendant to determine whether a reasonable jury might find the former among the latter.

Id. (alteration in original) (quoting Restatement (Third) of Torts § 29 cmt. *d*, at 496); see also *Spreitzer v. Hawkeye State Bank*, 779 N.W.2d 726, 741–45 (Iowa 2009) (applying scope-of-liability analysis to determine damages recoverable for fraud). Our law recognizes two separate acts can join to cause an injury, but the result does not alter criminal responsibility for an act. *State v. Tribble*, 790 N.W.2d 121, 129 (Iowa 2010).

Davison's involvement in the events which led to the death of Demarcus Chew establish his acts were a substantial factor in Chew's death. While Chew was with friends at a nightclub in Gulfport, Illinois, Davison, Antoine Spann, Andre Davis, Emmanuel Spann, and Derrick Parker hatched a plan to kill Chew for the "bounty" that A.J. Smith put on Chew's life. Trial Tr. Vol. IV p. 179, line 4 through p. 180, line 23, Vol. V. p. 92, lines 13-25, p. 139, line 13 through p. 140, line 16. After Chew left the club in Illinois, the men followed him in two cars as the Chew crossed the river into Burlington, Iowa. Trial

Tr. Vol. V p. 104, line 10 through p. 109, line 1. Once across the river, Derrick Parker, who was in the first car, directed Antoine Spann, Andre Davis, Emmanuel Spann, and Davison to an alley behind the apartment where Chew lived and where he was being dropped off. Trial Tr. Vol. IV p. 196, line 3 through p. 199, line 11, Vol. V p. 104, line 10 through p. 111, line 9. Antoine Spann stopped the Jeep and Davison and Emmanuel Spann got out. Trial Tr. Vol. IV p. 197, line 16 through p. 201, line 2, Vol. V p. 109, line 24 through p. 111, line 9. Before Chew could get out of the car, Davison or Spann shot seven rounds into the rear passenger seat where Chew was seated and killed him. Trial Tr. Vol. IV p. 199 line 12 through p. 201, line 19, Vol. V p. 111, line 10 through p. 113, line 23, p. 137, line 24 through p. 138, line 10. Davison and Emmanuel Spann returned to the Jeep and Davison said, “he’s gone.” Trial Tr. Vol. IV p. 200, line 23 through p. 201, line 19, Vol. V p. 137, line 24 through p. 138, line 10. The men hid the gun they used in the shooting and Antoine Spann called A.J. Smith to collect the bounty on Chew. Trial Tr. Vol V p. 114, line 11 through p. 118, line 3, p. 145, line 20 through p. 146, line 9. The men collected \$1000 and a pound of methamphetamine for killing Demarcus Chew.

Trial Tr. Vol. V p. 121, line 23 through p. 122, line 7. Davison was aware of and participated in the events that led to Chew's death.

That is, he either acted as the principal or aided and abetted in the crimes for which the jury convicted him. He was in the bar when the plan to kill Demarcus Chew came together, he followed the car Chew was in when he left the bar, and he got out of the vehicle and ambushed Chew as he was driving down the alley. The evidence supports a finding that he participated in the crimes either as the principal in shooting Chew or going along with the plan and aided and abetted the crimes. *State v. Tyler*, 873 N.W.2d 741, 747 (Iowa 2016) (to convict a defendant on the theory of individual liability, the jury had to conclude the assault caused the death); *State v. Henderson*, 908 N.W.2d 868, 876 (Iowa 2018) (to sustain a conviction on the theory of aiding and abetting, the record must sustain substantial evidence the accused assented or lent countenance and approval to the criminal act either by active participation in it or by some manner encouraging it prior to or at the time of its commission).

Davison argues, however, that because he was not convicted of a crime that contains an element that he caused the death of another or

that the jury made a separate finding to that effect, he should not be required to pay the \$150,000. Davison's analysis is incorrect.

The question is not whether the crime includes an element that a death occur. The question is whether his actions caused Demarcus Chew's death. As set out above, Davison's knowledge of the plan to kill Chew and his participation in that plan is sufficient to make him liable for the restitution award. *See generally State v. Rohm*, 609 N.W.2d 504, 514 (Iowa 2000) (regardless of whether defendant's conduct was passive or active, her conduct in providing alcohol to a fourteen-year old which resulted in the death of the minor was extremely serious under the circumstances of the case and defendant was ordered to pay \$150,000).

Moreover, there is no other rule of law that relieves him of liability. In *State v. Albertson*, No. 02-1807, 2004 WL239828 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 11, 2004), a similar issue was raised. Albertson alleged she should not have to pay \$150,000.00 in restitution because she was convicted only of delivery of a controlled substance and neither injury nor death were elements of the crime. *Id.* The Court of Appeals disagreed and found that "our appellate courts have not imposed this rule of law in restitution cases." *Id.* Relying on *State v.*

Starkey, 437 N.W.2d 573, 574 (Iowa 1989) and *State v. Mai*, 572 N.W.2d 168, 169 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997), the *Albertson* court found that harm to the victim does not have to be an element of the crime for the \$150,000 award to be imposed. *Albertson*, No. 021807, 2004 WL 239828 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 11, 2004); *see also Rohm*, 609 N.W.2d at 514 (Iowa 2000).

Since Iowa Code section 910.3B was enacted, this court has upheld the award on numerous occasions for offenses that were not “homicide offenses.” Although 910.3B applies to homicide offenses (*Izzolena*, 609 N.W.2d at 545 (vehicular homicide)); it also has been imposed in involuntary manslaughter cases (*Klawonn*, 609 N.W.2d at 517; *State v. Rohm*, 609 N.W.2d 504, 509-10 (Iowa 2000)), attempted murder and going armed with intent (*State v. Turner*, No. 15-2191, 2016 WL7393894, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 21, 2016)); a robbery and willful injury case (*State v. Young*, No. 01-0421, 2002 WL1585650 (Iowa Ct. App. July 19, 2001), a delivery of a controlled substance case (*State v. Albertson*, No. 02-1807, 2004 WL239828 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 11, 2004), and a burglary case (*State v. McFarland*, No. 10-0936, 2011 WL1781740 (Iowa Ct. App. May 11, 2011)). The plain language of section 910.3B does not limit the

applicability of the statute to felonies in “homicide offenses” alone.

Iowa Code § 910.3B.

Due Process and Apprendi

Davison also argues that the imposition of the \$150,000 violates due process because there has been no finding beyond a reasonable doubt that he was the “proximate cause” of the death of DeMarcus Chew. Def. Brief at 19. Davison contends that the prior challenges to section 910.3B did not address a Sixth Amendment or article I, section 9 wherein “the fact of causation must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.”

The Court of Appeals considered and rejected a similar claim in *State v. Turner*, No. 15-2191, 2016 WL 7393894, at * 2 (Iowa Ct. Dec. 21, 2016). In *Turner*, the defendant argued that section 910.3B violates the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution by allowing mandatory restitution to be set without a jury finding or a plea of guilty to an offense, which includes as one of its elements that his act was the proximate cause of the victim’s death. *Id.* at *2. The Court of Appeals determined:

Under our statutory scheme, ordering restitution is a part of the sentencing procedure. Iowa Code § 910.2. The issue of causation under section 910.3B is a matter for the court to decide. *See Izzolena*, 609 N.W.2d at 553. *Turner* primarily

relies on *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), for his claim that causation is a jury question under the Sixth Amendment. *Apprendi* involved a New Jersey state that allowed the length of a sentence to be increased beyond the maximum permitted by the applicable statute. 530 U.S. at 490. Under the statute, the extension of the sentence was permitted by court action and without jury involvement. *Id.* The statute was declared unconstitutional as a violation of the Sixth Amendment. *Id.* at 491. The restitution order against Turner was the minimum amount mandated by the legislature and the statute contains no maximum.

Turner, at *3.

The Court of Appeals continued:

Even if *Apprendi* covers all forms of punishment, restitution is not “clearly” punishment. . .

...Restitution carries with it no statutory maximum; it’s pegged to the amount of the victim’s loss. A judge can’t exceed the non-existent statutory maximum for restitution not matter what facts he finds, so *Apprendi*’s not implicated.

Turner, at *3 (citing *United States v. Green*, 722 F.3d 1146, 1150 (9th Cir. 2013)).

The Court of Appeals correctly reached this result as prior cases have stated that restitution cannot be construed to be a fine only. *State v. Mayberry*, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987) (it is not always clear whether restitution constitutes a fine, a civil claim, or some hybrid). Since the restitution chapter was adopted, this court has found that the purpose of restitution is two-fold. It not only serves to

protect the public by compensating victims for criminal activities, but it also serves to rehabilitate the defendant. *State v. Kluesner*, 389 N.W.2d 370, 372 (Iowa 1986). Restitution goes beyond revenue recovery and is designed to instill responsibility in criminal offenders. *State v. Haines*, 360 N.W.2d 791, 795 (Iowa 1985). The provisions of section 910.3B are unique in that the \$150,000 is to be paid to the victim's estate or heirs at law and not to the government. Iowa Code § 910.3B. It is improper to classify the \$150,000 award as a "fine" when its purpose goes beyond the government's ability to punish.

Additionally, most federal authorities reject the requirement of a jury trial for criminal restitution. *United States v. Green*, 722 F.3d 1146, 1150–51 (9th Cir.2013) (*Apprendi* inapplicable to restitution); *United States v. Wolfe*, 701 F.3d 1206, 1215–18 (7th Cir.2012) (same), *cert. denied* — U.S. —, 133 S.Ct. 2797, 186 L.Ed.2d 860 (2013); *United States v. Milkiewicz*, 470 F.3d 390, 402–04 (1st Cir.2006) (same); *United States v. Reifler*, 446 F.3d 65, 114, 118–20 (2d Cir.2006) (same); *Dohrmann v. United States*, 442 F.3d 1279, 1281 (11th Cir.2006) (same); *United States v. Leahy*, 438 F.3d 328, 336–38 (3d Cir.2006) (same); *United States v. Garza*, 429 F.3d 165, 170 (5th Cir.2005) (same); *United States v. Sosebee*, 419 F.3d 451, 454,

461–62 (6th Cir.) (same), *cert. denied* 546 U.S. 1082, 126 S.Ct. 843, 163 L.Ed.2d 718 (2005); *United States v. Carruth*, 418 F.3d 900, 902–04 (8th Cir.2005) (same); *United States v. Wooten*, 377 F.3d 1134, 1144–45 n. 1 (10th Cir. 2004) (same). Restitution to the victim in the amount of the victim's losses is required upon a guilty verdict under the federal restitution statute and because there is no prescribed statutory maximum for restitution, restitution is not subject to *Apprendi*. *Wolfe*, 701 F.3d at 1216-18 (because there is no statutory maximum for restitution, the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial does not apply to restitution); *State v. Jenkins*, 788 N.W.2d 640, 643 (Iowa 2010) (citing Melanie D. Wilson, *In Booker's Shadow: Restitution Forces a Second Debate on Honesty in Sentencing*, 39, Ind. L.Rev. 379, 402 (2006)).

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